"AL. I. CUZA" UNIVERSITY OF IAŞI FACULTY OF PHILOSOPHY AND SOCIAL-POLITICAL SCIENCES

Mentalities and social changes in the multiethnic communities of the Romanian post-communism

Scientific coordinator: Prof. univ. dr. Nicu Gavriluță

> PhD candidate: Rusu (Mocănașu) Daniela

- Iași -2012

Contents

Introduction

PART I ELEMENTS OF CONCEPTUAL AND THEORETICAL CONSTRUCTION

- 1. Collective mentalities
 - 1. 1. The concept of mentality
 - 1.2. Elements of mentality
 - 1.2.1. Representations
 - 1.2.2. The perception of Alterity. Stereotypes and Prejudices
 - 1.2.3. Mental images, social images
- 2. Ethnic community
 - 2.1. The concept of community
 - 2.2. The concept of ethnic community
 - 2.3. Categories of Romani
- 3. Social changes in post-communist Romania
 - 3.1. The concept of "social change"
 - 3.2. Factors influencing social change
 - 3.3. Theories regarding social changes in post-communist societies of Eastern Europe
 - 3.4. Social capital and communitarian development

PART II METHODOLOGICAL GROUNDS

- 4.1. Objectives and hypotheses of the research. Conceptual specifications
 - 4.1. 1. The objectives of research
 - 4.1.2. The hypotheses of the research

- 4.1.3. Conceptual specifications
- 4.2. Research methods and techniques
- 4.3. Organizing the research

PART III CASE STUDY: THE HORAHANE COMMUNITY – THE BABADAG MUSLIM ROMANI

- 5.1. The origins of the Horahane Community
- 5.2. First names of Muslim Romani
- 5.3. Muslim Romani's costume
- 5.4. Muslim religion and ancestral beliefs
- 5.5. Using the language in communication
- 5.6. Family type and structure
- 5.7. The daughter-in-law's position within the family
- 5.8. Social organization of the clans
- 5.9. Economic level
- 5.10. Marriage
 - 5.10. 1. The rule of endogamy and the "buying of the bride"
 - 5.10. 2. The number of brides. From polygenesis to monogamy
 - 5.10. 3. Age at marriage
- 5.10. 4. Stages of getting married
- 5.11. The evolution of the Muslim Romani population
- 5.12. The reproductive model and its evolution
- 5.13. Trades of *Yesterday*, trades of *Today*
- 5.14. Health and access to health care services
- 5.15. Formal education

FINAL CONCLUSIONS

SELECTIVE BIBLIOGRAPHY

ANNEXES

Keywords

Post-comunism, social change, ethnicity, ethnic community, mentalities, social representations, ethnic representations, social images, Horahane community - Babadag Muslim Romani, stereotypes, prejudices, social capital, communitarian development

Introduction

One of the prominent topics at the heart of public debates regarding post-communist change and "transition" in Romania is "changing mentalities". It is sometimes argued that changes in the "mentality" of the Romanian inhabitants are necessary for a substantial social change since the problematic aspects of Romanians' "metalities" are in many cases attributed to the communist inheritance. A change in "metality" is called for in various fields of social life: work, business, education and learning, relationships between genders and those between parent and child, human rights of homosexuals and minorities, especially the Romani. This manner of representation of the "subjective" aspects of change has become a dominant element in the discourses of change and transition within the intellectual and political debate, expanding upon other various social fields as well.

It is relevant to identify the mentalities manifested by the members of a Muslim Romani community from Babadag towards the social changes that appeared after 1990 as well as their role in shaping behaviours adapted to the transitions experienced by the contemporary Romanian society.

Studying the customs and traditions of the Muslim Romani, their ways of "being" and "acting" has constituted one

of the main reasons of choosing this community for the present study.

PART I. ELEMENTS OF CONCEPTUAL AND THEORETICAL CONSTRUCTION

1. Colective mentalities

1.1. The concept of "mentality"

Mentalities are mental structures manifested through choices, judgements of value, behavioural structures; structures which are strongly context-dependant. According to Dumitru Sandu¹, mentalities are considered to be value structures that determine the long term choices and evaluations at the level of social group. They are diffused social models of solving certain families of problems or relating to certain categories of situations. Their durability is given by the processes of socialization and social communication as a reaction to recurrent social requirements. As structuring or generative structures, mentalities are diffused cultural dispositions sustained through socialization and institutionalization; habits that continuously generate practical metaphors, transfers, systematic transpositions required by given particular circumstances.

Mentalities contain information, beliefs, values, opinions, representations, stereotypes, prejudices, elements of ideology, etc., structured according to certain coherence. They are related to every day social-human life, to routines, to social occasions and encounters. Under the circumstances of interexistence, inter-subjectivity, interactions, communication and

_

¹ Dumitru Sandu et al., op. cit., p. 21.

exchanges of any type, people "agree' upon meanings, significances, upon the community and world they live in. *Mentality becomes homogenizing and unifying and it makes predictions about the members' behaviours in social situations possible.*

1.2. Elements of mentality

1.2.1. Social representations: conceptual specifications, structure and functions

Social representations are complex and holistic. They can be seen as "theories", "networks of ideas", metaphors and images that include emotions, attitudes and judgements. Therefore, they are incorporated in social practices as "practical schemes" of identification, thought and action. The most stable elements constitute the nucleus of the representations and their main function is to generate the significance of the ethnic representation. Within the structure of the representation these the most shared elements. The system of peripheral elements constitutes the most important mass of elements and the most accessible and visible part of the representation. The main function of the peripheral system is the adaptive one. Within the structure of the ethnic representation the peripheral elements are those that are the least shared ones.

1.2.2. The perception of Alterity. Stereotypes and Prejudices

The cultural contexts that establish the criteria of belonging to a group, as well as the exclusion ones, do not stay the same along history, but suffer redefinitions according to the social, political and economical contexts at a given moment. Consequently, one cannot formulate a generally valid and perennial definition of the notion of alterity because this modifies according to the changes suffered by the notion of

identity. Placing one in the alterity does not imply only the inventory of the negative characteristics, which are the premises of exclusion and discrimination, but also the recognition of the Other/Alter and the acceptance of his/her positive characteristics. The representations reffering to alterity are permanently constructed and reconstructed by means of communication, especially through mass media.

Most authors accept the definition of stereotypes as an assembly of shared beliefs regarding personal characteristics, specific behaviours of a group of persons. To use a given stereotype is to consider that all members of a category, such as an ethnic group, share the attributes conteined in the stereotype.

Martin Marger² differentiates ethnic stereotypes from rational generalizations, considering that the former are supersimplistic and superexagerated beliefs regarding a group, most often than not acquired passively and resistant to change.

The types of reciprocal representations, stereotypes and prejudices may constitute, in some cases, serious obstacles against cooperation, collective participation in the attempt of fulfilling common goals, i.e. obstacles against communitarian development.

1.2.3. Mental images, social images

When trying to define the term "image, due to its polysemy, we face the impossibility of discovering an exhaustive definition for the term *image*, precisely due to its nature, fluidity, complexity and omnipresence. At the same time, by means of this multitude of images we can access the social reality, its construction, and by integrating the images in a social and ideological context we discover and understand the

Perspectives, Cengage Learning, 2011, pp. 51-52.

Martin Marger, Race and Ethnic Relations: American and Global

symbolic construction of reality. The study of images may highlight "patterns", models of how certain activities are carried on or how certain phenomena are judged by the actors involved in the contexts in which the events are taking place.

2. Ethnic community

2.1. The concept of community

The term of "community" is plurisemantic, being found in various constructions such as local community, rural community, ethnic community, religious community, media community, obline community, etc., each of them displaying a particular set of distinct features and a dominant characteristic.

The 19th century's thought is marked by the concept of community. The notion is connected to the traditional or artificial communitary relationships which constitute the image of an ideal society of the last century, the community becoming a means of legitimizing types of more diverse associations. The strength of the communitary forces depends essentially on everything that is opposing within the same social context of noncommunitary-type relationships, focused on the individual, based on competition, conflict, utility or contractual consent.

If this opposition was fixed for the first time in 1887 by Ferdinand Tönnies³ (the opposition between *Gemeinschaft* and *Gesellschaft*, term to which we always refer nowadays), it does not mean that it is less present in the works of all sociologists of the time, from Comte to Simmel, passing through Émile Durkheim and Le Play. Robert Nisbet synthesises the traditional idea of community like this: "the community is a fusion of

⁻

³ Ferdinand Tönnies, Communauté et Société. Catégories fundamentales de la sociologie pure, 1887, apud Bernadette Bawin-Legros, Sociologie de la famille. Le lien familial sous questions, De Boeck Université, Belgia, 1996, p. 30.

feelings and thought, of tradition and comitmnet, of belonging and will"⁴. For the vast majority of the 19th century's sociologists and thinkers, this concept of community reunites all types of relationships characterised, for the first time, by strong, profound and durable affective bonds but also by a moral coittment and a common adhesion to the group.

The term of community has remained in the current use and in the academic language, far from replacing other terms such as social connection, network, and affiliation. In the contemporary research, in sociology and other areas as well, we no longer deal with a "classic" notion, endowed with precise characteristics, but with a malleable term, generally used in a descriptive manner, which constantly requires a process of reframing, re-evaluation and re-intertretation.

2.2. The concept of ethnic community

Defining an ethnic community presupposes identifying some key defining elements and its dominat characteristics.

There is a classic definition of ethnic community as a *datum* – with reference to "objective features": sharing the same language, inhabiting the same territory, where the members of an ethnic group are all connected to the same fundamental historic and cultural landmarks, origins (the local mythology of ancestry), common tradition, customs, values and norms transmitted from generation to generation through socialization, behaviours, continuity and persistence in the same space, a collective conscience.

With time, ethnic community moves to be interpreted as a *construct*, a "reality" that is permanently constructed and reconstructed at the level of a collective conscience,

⁴ Robert Nisbet, *The Sociological tradition*, Transaction Publishers, New Jersey, SUA, 1993, p. 48.

2.3. Categories of Romani

The Romani from Romania, like the Romani around the world, are not a united, homogenous community, there being a large variety of Romani collectivities. Thus, there are communities that have preserved their old traditions, language and cultural characteristics but there are also communities that have forgotten most of their old traditions, preserving only to a small extent their cultural characteristics, integratings themselves within the surrounding populations.

Classifying Romani into various categories presupposes selecting criteria and relevant characteristics so that they could be used as a reference framework to compare different groups of Romani. We could mention among others the language (or dialect), the life style, the limits of endogamy, professional specialization, etc.

Among numerous classifications, the one made by Gheorghe Sarău⁵ rises as one of the most complete classifications of the Romani population in Romania. We would like to add a few remarks to the author's classification.

3. Social changes in post-communist Romania

3.1. The concept of "social change"

Analysing the ways of defining the relation between the individual (social actor) and the society (institutional order, interactional order, world-life, etc.), ways that affirm or negate the active role of the former and the constructed nature of the latter, we notice an evolution on the exlanatory level of the theories regarding the social, including the social change. The further we go in the history of sociology, the theories regarding

⁵ For further details see Gheorghe Sarău, *Rromii, India și Limba Rromani*, Editura, București, 1997, pp. 105-131.

the social shift from the idea of social order seen as *datum* to that of a social "cosmos" under construction, from the idea of a serious integration of the individual into a reality structured in institutions to the idea of its participation in the "collective effort" of structuring/institutionalization. The authors of histories of sociology notice this shit, indicating an evolution from the functionalist/structuralist/systemic theories to the constructivist theories of structuralization.

Reductionally speaking, according to Rusu⁶, we can talk about two major perspectives over social change: the *systemic perspective* – where one can include the evolutionist theories, the theories of balance (functionalist), the conflictual theories and the cyclical ones –, and the *modern perspective*, process-aimed, dynamic, constructivist, where the focus is placed on the junction of structures and the social actor's capacity to act.

3.2. Factors influencing social change

The analysis of social change, seen as a process, allows us to identify various factors that have an impact on it, to understand and explain different aspects of change in its entirety, taking into into account the fact that a change in one sphere of social life influences the other spheres as well.

We stopped in this section at three of the most important factors that have left their mark on the direction of social change after the fall of the old regime: the demographic factor, the cultural factor and the migration.

⁶ Horațiu Rusu, *Schimbarea socială și identitatea socioculturală*, Institutul European, Iași, 2008, p. 23.

3.3. Theories regarding post-communist social changes in Eastern Europe

At the beginning of this section we outlined some of the significances of the concepts of "post-communism" and post-communist "Eastern Europe", and then we identified the main theories that have been used to explain the multiple transformations in the ex-communist countries encompassed by the above-mentioned region.

We noticed numerous controversies related to the definition of the term "post-communism", a variety of nuanced significances according to the theories on the basis of which the authors "anchor" and develop their explanatory arguments. Most authors define post-communism as a transitory process of modernization and identify two stages within it: the stage of radical changes and multiple transitions and the stage of consolidation. Among these multiple transitions, we identified the economic transition, that of institutional reconstruction of the internal political system and of the external politics, the change of the social structure and the cultural changes.

A brief visit of the main reference works, that are included in the bibliography, emphasises the fact that multiple terms are simultaneously used to refer to the countries in this region, such as: the "East and Center of Europe", the "East-Center of Europe", "the post-communist Eastern Europe", "the East of Europe:, "Eastern Europe", "the Center, the East, the Balkan countries and the European part of Russia", etc.

However, in all these multiple controversies, we notice that the general common demarcation line (present in most works) divides Eastern Europe in: Central Europe (the Czech Republic, Hungary, Poland, Slovenia, and Slovakia), the Baltic countries (Estonia and Lithuania), South-Eastern Europe or the Balcan states (Romania, Albania, Bosnia and Herzegovina,

Bulgaria, Croatia and Macedonia, Serbia and Montenegro) and the independent countries that were included in the eastern part of the Soviet Union (Belarus, Moldavia, Ukraine) and Russia through its European part, geographically speaking.

The analysis of the main theories reagrding the social changes in the post-communist countries in Eastern Europe identifies two stages: *The first generation of theories* or "transitology" and *The second generations of theories* or the alternative approaches.

3.4. Social capital and communitarian development

The purpose of the present section is to highlight the relation between social capital and communitarian development. In order to do this, at first we will clarify the significances of the terms "communitarian development" and "social capital" and then we will identify the shapes and sizes of the social capital to finally mark its beneffits.

PART II. METHODOLOGICAL GROUNDS

4.1. Objectives and hypotheses of the research. Conceptual specifications

4.1.1 The objectives of research

Mentalities contain information, beliefs, values, opinions, representations, stereotypes, prejudices, elements of ideology, etc., structured according to certain coherence and it is important to identfy the elementary structures around which they can cristalize. They are related to every day social-human life, to routines, to social occasions and encounters. Under the circumstances of inter-existence, inter-subjectivity, interactions, communication and exchanges of any type, people "agree" upon meanings, significances, upon the community and world they

live in. Mentality becomes homogenizing and unifying and it makes predictions about the members' behaviours in social situations possible.

- 1. This research aims at making a qualitative analysis of the mentalities of the members of the Muslim Romani community in Babadag regarding the social changes that took place after 1990.
- 2. The second goal is to draw the role of social mentalities in outlining behaviours adaptive to transition.
- 3. Thirdly, the study wants to establish the ways in which the Horahane community, i.e. the community of the Muslim Romani ethnics as it is found on the territory of Babadag city, co-lives and the extent to which there is a preservation of the features of its own ethnicity in order to get a confirmation over space and time.
- 4. Further more, to clarify its own cultural identity (the origin of the Horahane community, its language, costume, religion, trades, etc.)
- 5. Finally, to identify the ways of organizing the community; the type, structure and organization of the Horahane family; marriage-related problems (choosing the partner, the age at marrige, customs related to this event); reproductive models and the evolution of Muslim Romani population; the economic level of the community; their acces to health care servcies and formal aducation.

4.1.2. The hypotheses of the research

The main hypotheses of our research are:

- 1. socio-economical changes are articulated with and codetermined by metality changes (individual and collective);
- 2. there is an important cultural determination of the economic success; the economic and cultural factors play

complementary roles in the individual and communitarian development;

3. under the circumstances of jobs shortage, more and more radical strategies of survival develop on the local job market, especially migration (lateral mobility to other cities in the country or abroad), these strategies being corelated with the type of resource/capital held.

4.1.3. Conceptual specifications

The initial system of concepts that encompass the chosen sphere of research consists of the following notions: post-communism, transitions, social change, mentality, social representation, ethnic representation, stereotype, ethnicity, ethnic community, social images. For each concept we specify the significances that are used along the empirical research.

4.2. Research methods and techniques

The research topic is pecific to a qualitative analysis. The empirical research of the present project comprises two approaches. The first approach is an analysis of the literature related to the topic of social change made in order to outline the theoretical framework and the working hypotheses of the research, as well as the analysis of the evolution in time of the mentalities and representations regarding social changes, special attention being paid to the literature dedicated to democracies in transitions.

The second approach suggests the development of a sociological enquiry whose goals result from the declared purpose of this paper. The community selected for this research is the community of Muslim Romani from Babadag city, Tulcea County.

Documentation constituted an important source of sociological data and information. During this stage we researched those papers and articles related to our topic.

The method of interview was used to gather data about social representations (ways of thinking) and social practices. The interviews were profound, nondirective and on topics chosen by us. Thus, we placed under scrutiny: perceptions regarding social change; the labour market in terms of accessibilty and types of trades; the migration for work; the definition of the Horahane community and the identification of its main characteristics, customs and traditions specific to the Muslim Romani community; problems related to making a family and the distribution of roles and authority within it; aspects related to health, family planning and, the last but not least, formal education of children and adults.

Another method that we used was observation which was better suited for the field type of data that focused on grasping aspects of every day life, practices employed on a daily basis, esthetic aspects of the city and ethnic community under scrutiny.

4.3. Organizing the research

Our project was supposed to be a qualitative one, making an analysis of social mentalities and changes within the Muslim Romani community. We went through all stages presupposed by a sociological enquiry; here follows the description of some of these stages.

Thus, the study included a finely tuned pe-enquiry whose final goal was to identfy the sociological problems in order to formulate the hypotheses and working tools.

We conducted 12 interviews in Babadag, 10 of which were deep interviews with Muslim Romani ethnics (Horahai).

The table below includes the characteristics of the persons interviewed in Babadag.

The gathering of data, by means of deep interview, was carried on in two periods:

- July, 3rd July, 7th, 2009;
- August, 6th August, 15th, 2012;

The gathering of data by means of observation was carried on during all our visits to Babadag.

PART III CASE STUDY: THE HORAHANE COMMUNITY – THE BABADAG MUSLIM ROMANI

The Muslim Romani – who are the focus of this study – live in a compact area of Babadag city, Bendrea neighbourhood. Approximately 99% of the Bendrea neighbourhood residents are Muslim Romani ethnics. Those who are left among the Romani ethnics usually live on the peripheral streets of the neighbourhood and are called, by the Muslim Romani, "Dasnee" which means they are Christians.

5.4.1. The origins of the Horahane Community

The Muslim Romani arrived on Dobrudgia territory along the Turkish armies, as part of the auxiliary troops. Some of them arrived in Babadag in the 17th and 18th centuries when this was the pasha's residency; by then, they would perform various services for the auxiliary army. We believe that the main tasks they had, among others, in the Otoman army were the following: to forge the metals in order to build weapons, to shoe the horses; to take care of the animals; to supply the army with food and other necessities.

5.4.2. First names of Muslim Romani

It is worth mentioning the Muslim Romani's pragmatic approach to giving names to their descendents in such a way as to give them the chance to better adapt to a society which, as the author noticed, proved sometimes to be a hostile environment. Thus, many times a double first name is prefered, a first name which reflects a combination of Turkish (Islamic) names and Romanian names (sometimes even Christian).

5.4.3. Muslim Romani's costume

There are certain preferences in choosing the garments, both for men, and for women. Due to these preferences, they are immediately identified as Muslim Romani by the other thnics in Babadag.

5.4.4. Muslim religion and ancestral beliefs

The members of the Horahane community declare themselves Turks, i.e. Muslims, because they also declare followers of Islam. From the Islamic rituals practiced by all members of the community, which they find elements to identify with, are the circumsition of the male children and the burying rituals. Apart from these, they do not lead a manifest religious life.

5.4.5. Using the language in communication

The language spoken by the members of the Horahane community is Horahane. The Horahane community displays an atypical case of languages in contact. Horahane is a Romani dialect in whose vocabulry one may find words of Romani, Turkish, Romanian, Bulgarian, and Greek origin which reflects the contacts their ancestors had with the communities of the countries they travelled through during their nomadic period.

5.4.6. Family type and structure

The specific type of family is the clan. Poligenic and monogamous families coexist within the clan.

5.4.7. The daughter-in-law's position within the family

The daughter-in-law has a clearly delineated status within the family and her main respansibilities resulting from this are: to wash, to clean and maintain the haose clean, to cook for all members of the husband's family that live in the same house, to participate in bringing the income by selling goods "around villages", to obey the mother-in-law, to give birth to children and especially boys, etc.

5.4.8. Social organization of the Horahane clans

The Muslim Romani community does not know a "chief" or a leader of the bulibasha type as in the case of other traditional Romani communities. Each clan has its own leader, position taken by the clan's "elder", who is also the head of the family, the oldest man alive and who set the foundation of the "big" family consisting of the descedents on the male line together with their wives and children, having patrilocal residence. The "elder" is also the one giving the clan's name. He has the reputation of being impecable and he is invested mainly with moral authority. Establishing the kinship relationships through marriage of his sons and their desendents' depends a great deal on his reputation.

5.4.9. Economic level

We have identified within the Horahane community the existence of three socio-economical layers as follow: a) the rich; b) those who have a middle wellfare standard and c) the poor.

5.4.10. Marriage

The Babadag Horahanes are Sunni of Hanafi rite and by tradition the marriages are arranged. According to Oprişan and Grigore, the "hanafite" tradition is a way of building strong relationships between families, stronger than blod relationships. The parents always promissed their children's marriage before they were born or when they were very young.

5.4.10.1. The rule of endogamy and the "buying of the bride"

One of the rules governing the choice of a partner is the rule of endogamy, of marriage between cousins, a rule that most often than not is still preserved nowadays. Marriage presupposes a preliminary agreement between the parents of the future bride and groom, plus a payment for the bride. A Horahane girl can be bought for a certain amount of money. The price of the bride, the "buying of the bride" respectively, is one of the fundamental rituals of the Muslim Romani, one of the pillars of the Horahane culture.

5.4.10.2 The number of brides. From polygenesis to monogamy

At present, the polygenic family co-exists with the monogamous one.

5.4.10. 3 Age at marriage

He marriage age differs according to the gender of the future groom/bride. Inn the elders' families (the traditional family) the girl got married between 10 years old till 13 the latest. The younger the girl was, the "purer" the bride got and less chances for the bride to be stollen. The boy's age was between 13 and 15.

After the '90s, the girl's age at marriage starts to settle at 12-13. The number of cases when the girl gets married at 10

years old decreases. In the case of boys, we notice an increase in the marriage age to 15-17.

5.4.10.4 Stages of getting married

Analysing the main moments of the marriage process, we can identify five major stages that the two families undergo in order to marry their children: choosing the son's partner, agreeing on the bride's price and buying her, bringing the daughter-in-law home, the party of receiving the daughter-in-law home and the deflowering ritual and the weding itself.

5.4.11 The evolution of the Muslim Romani population

For Babadag city, the Muslim Romanis have proved to be a prolific minority, their numbers growing vigurously every year. The increase in the numbers of births in the case of the Romani along with the decrease of births in case of the rest of inhabitants will lead to a change in the ethnic composition of the city, a hypothesis already put forward by Babadag's dwellers of other ethnicities.

5.4.12 The reproductive model and its evolution

The Horahai traditional reproductive model is at least 7 children born alive, that is "as many as Allah gives".

As a result of family planning, the Horahai reproductive model reflects a reduction in the nimber of children, most frequently to maximum 5 children born alive.

As a result of family planning, the Horahai reproductive model reflects a reduction in the number of children, most frequently to maximum 5 children born alive.

As a result of the shortage of injectable contraceptives freely distributed through the family doctor, the communitarian

nurses expect to lose control of the reproduction within the Horahane community and a reiteration of the traditional reproductive model.

5.4.13 Trades of *Yesterday*, trades of *Today*

The trades attributed to the old ones are diverse according to the clan under question: they used to work metals, make caldrons and other vessels which they later sold or barter them through the villages, getting the necessary food in exchange. Others were trading animals, mainly horses. Those who trade well also had "malaci" (buffalo calves) which ensured their daily living as they "gave much milk". They also used to trade sheep. An essential characteristic result from here: they were tradesmen, peddlers since early beginning. They were used to travelling across country, "through villages", were good negotiators and knew how to sale to "the Rumanian" whatever he needed for his household.

Today, some of them are leather workers, others raise animals, and others are still peddlers, travelling "through villages" in the rural area of Moldova and Dobruja while others beg abroad (approximately 50%), especially in Portugal.

5.4.14 Health and access to health care services

Generally speaking, the Horahai Romani do not suffer from serious disese and they usually live long, the clans' elders living beyond 80, and, when they die, the communitarian nurses record "natural deaths".

At community level there appear cases of congenial malformations but their existence is limited to a minimum.

5.4.15 Formal education

The Muslim Romanis pay little importance to formal education. For them, school is not an educational body that can

provide them with relevant knowledge and therefore does not bring important benefits. The vast majority of girls go to school till the 3rd grade; you can hardly ever see a girl who graduated the 4th grade. Most boys attend school till the 8th grade.

FINAL CONCLUSIONS

The Horahane community, to be found in Babadag, is a clearly delineated community from a geographical perspective, in Bendrea neighbourhood, the geographical borderline – the entrance in Bendrea neighbourhood – underlining the stepping into an existing world, governed by different rules, with other types of family characterised by specific norms and values and other organizations. The concentration of Muslim Romani in a clearly delineated area makes their suspicion towards outsiders even more accentuated. There is a clear meaning of "WE" – HORAHANE and "THEY" – "IABANGI" (i.e. outsiders/strangers/foreigners) and "DASNEE" (the Christians).

Among the key features of the community we include:

- a) a specific family type, i.e. the clan type family;
- b) a patrilocal settlement and inhabitance where only the male descendents remain and build their residence on the land owned by the boy's father or within his courtyard;
- c) an internal organization that respects the hierarchy based on age and gender as well as the daughter-in-law's clearly delineated position, especially that of the "little daughter-inlaw's";
- d) each clan has its own "head" of the family, respectively the clan's "elder", a person with an impeccable reputation, who gives the name of the clan and who is invested with authority, mainly a moral one;
 - e) clear separation of the roles of man and woman;

- f) respect for the right of "last progenitor", i.e. the preservation of the custom according to which the youngest boy married will live in the old house and inherit the goods of the elders but he will have the responsibility to take care of them in their old age as well as of the other unmarried or sick members who remained in the parent house;
- g) respect for the marriage tradition (most marriages are arranged between cousins of first degree; the narital partner is chosen by the parents; the "buying of the bride" custom is preserved; respect for the community's rules regarding the marriage age, maximum 14 for girls and 17 for boys; respect for the customs related to the marriage process);
- h) keeping strong kinship relations on the father's line established by natural kinship (by blood) and by alliance (kinship by marriage);
- i) common language, the Horahane language, which belongs to the Balkan dialects, being a mixture of languages (Turkish, Romanes, Romanian, Bulgarian);
- j) specific costumes: even if the Turkish traditional costume is no longer worn (shalwars and face-veil for women; pointed-toe shoes and fezzes for men), through their options in the case of women, a preference for loose skirts with floral or animal patterns (married women), in vivid colours (young Horahanes) and in the case of men, their preference for suits and especially for the vest and rolled long sleeves are immediately noticed as members of the Muslim Romani group;
- k) their declaration of being followers of Islam due to the fact that they preserve the circumcisition ritual and the burial rituals specific to this religious confession;
- l) traditional trades adapted to the new context of life: the peddling "through villages", trade with wool or sheep, metal workers, animal keepers.

Starting with the '90s, along with the opening of the country's borders, they they have started particing temporary migration abroad. Begging abroad, especially in Portugal, has become the main "money making" method, has proved to be the most lucrative practice of all. Nowadays, for about 50% of the Horahane community, the main method of obtaing the financial resources necessary to support and develop the household is begging abroad.

SELECTIVE BIBLIOGRAPHY

- Abric, Jean-Claude, "Reprezentările sociale: aspecte teoretice", in Neculau, Adrian (coord.), *Psihologia câmpului social: Reprezentările sociale*, Ed. a II a, prefață Neculau, Adrian, traducere Mărășescu, Ioana; Neculau, Radu, Polirom, Iași, 1997, pp. 107 127.
- Amossy, Ruth, "Du cliché et du stéréotype. Bilan provisoire ou Anatomie d'un parcours", în Mathis, Gilles, *Le cliché*, Presses Universitaires du Mirai, Toulouse, 1998, pp. 21–28.
- Bara, Maria "Relații interetnice dintre creștinii ortodocși și musulmani, studiu de caz: Medgidia și Cobadin", în *Philologica Jassyensia*, An II, Nr. 1, 2006, p. 93-104.
- Baron, Stephen; Field, John; Schuller Tom, Social Capital Social. Critical perspectives, Oxford University Press, USA, 2000
- Barth, Fredrik, *Ethnic Groups and Boundaries*, Little, Brown and Company, Boston, 1969.
- Bauman, Timothy, "Defining Ethnicity", in John, Kantner, (ed.), *The SAA Archaeological Record, Vol. 4, No.4*, 2004, http://www.saa.org/Portals/0/SAA/Publications/thesaaarchrec/sep04.pdf (28. 03. 2011)

- Bawin-Legros, Bernadette, *Sociologie de la famille. Le lien familial sous questions*, De Boeck Université, Belgia, 1996.
- Bădescu, Ilie; Mihăilescu, Ioan, *Geopolitica, Integrare*, *Globalizare*, Editura Mica Valahie, Bucuresti, 2003.
- Bădescu, Ilie, *Sociologie noologică*. *Ordinea spirituală a societății*, Editura Mica Valahie, Bicurești, 2007.
- Bărbuleanu, Cintian, *Monografia orașului Babadag*, Ediția a 2-a revizuită și adăugită, București, Editura Charme-Scott, 1998.
- Bârlea, Gheorghe Mihai, *Mentalități și transformări sociale în Zona Maramureș. Teză de doctorat*, coordonată de către prof. univ. dr. Miftode Vasile, Universitatea "Alexandru Ioan Cuza", Iași, 2000.
- Berg, Charles Ramírez, Latino Images in Film: Stereotypes, Subverison, Resistance, University of Texas Press, Austin, 2002.
- Berger, Alan S., *The City: Urban Communities and Their Problems*, Brown Company Publishers, SUA, 1978.
- Berger, Peter L.; Luckmann, Thomas, *Construirea socială a realității*, traducere și note Butucea, Alex, prima apariție 1966, Editura Univers, București, 1996.
- Betea, Lavinia, *Mentalități și remanențe comuniste*, Editura Nemira, București, 2005.
- Bideleux, Robert; Jeffries, Ian, A History of Eastern Europe.

 Crisis and Change, Second Edition, Taylor&Francis, 2007.
- Blokker, Paul, "Post-Communist Modernization, Transition Studies, and Diversity in Europe", *European Journal of Social Theory*, Vol. 8, No. 4, 2004, pp. 503-525, http://est.sagepub.com (24 noiembrie 2008).
- Bönker, Frank; Müller, Klaus; Pickel, Andreas, "Cross-

- Disciplinary Approaches to Postcommunist Transformation: Context and Agenda", Chapter 1, în Bönker, Frank; Müller, Klaus; Pickel, Andreas, "Postcommunist Transformation and the Social Sciences, Rowman & Littlefield, 2003.
- Bourdieu, Pierre, "Le capital social. Notes provisoires", *Actes de La Recherche en Sciences Sociales*, Année 1980, Volume 31, Numéro 1, pp.2-3, http://www.persee.fr (30.12.2008).
- Bourdieu, Pierre, *Choses dites*, Minuit, Paris, coll. Le Sens Commun, 1987.
- Braudel, Fernand, *Gramatica civilizațiilor*, Editura Meridiane, București, 1994.
- Bruhn, John G., *The sociology of community connections*. *Second Edition*, Springer Dordrecht Heidelberg, London, 2011.
- Bulei, Ion, "Dobrogea. O scurtă istorie", *Ziarul Financiar Ziarul de duminică*, (I), 16 iun 2010, http://www.zf.ro/ziarul-de-duminica/dobrogea-o-scurta-istorie-i-6425241 (22.07. 2012)
- Bulzan, Carmen, "Mentalitate" în Bădescu, Ilie; Cucu-Oancea, Ozana, *Dicționar de sociologie rurală*, Editura Mica Valahie, Bucuresti, 2011.
- Buzărnescu, Ștefan, *Istoria doctrinelor sociologice*, Editura Didactică și Pedagogică, București, 1995.
- Capozza, Dora; Volpato, Chiara, "Relații intergrupuri:
 perspective clasice și contemporane" in Bourhis,
 Richard Y.; Leyens, Jacques-Phillippe
 (coord.), Stereotipuri, Discriminare și Relații
 Intergrupuri, Polirom, Iași, 1996.
- Cernat, Paul, «Comunism rezidual "în negativ"», în Cesereanu,

- Ruxandra (coord.), T(z)ara noastră. Stereotipuri și prejudecăți, Eseuri de mentalitate, Institutul Cultural Român, București, 2006, pp. 207-217.
- Ceseranu, Ruxandra, "Crize, crizism, vinovăție", *Revista 22*, Iulie, 2007, http://www.revista22.ro
- Chatziangelak, Dimitra, Répresentations et stéréotypes des enseignants: un enjeu pour l'interculturel. Dans quelle mesure les répresentations et stéréotypes des enseignants peuvent-ils contribuier à visée l'ouverture vers un enseignement à visée interculturelle?, Éditions Publibook, Paris, 2011.
- Cherata, Lucian, *Istoria țiganilor: origini, specific, limbă,* Editura Z, București, 1993.
- Chiciudean, Ion; Halic, Bogdan-Alexandru, *Imagologie*. *Imagologie istorică*, București, Editura Comunicare.ro, 2003.
- Chiribucă, Dan, *Tranzitia postcomunistă și reconstrucția modernității în România*, Ed. Dacia, Eikon, Cluj-Napoca, 2004.
- Denis, Michel, Image et cognition, PUF, Paris, 1989.
- Dijk, Teun A. van, *Prejudice in Discourse. An analysis of ethnic prejudiced in cognition and conversation*, John Benjamins Publishing Company, 1984.
- Dimitur, Philipov; Jürgen, Dorbritz, Les conséquences

- démographiques de la transition économique dans les pays d'Europe centrale et orientale, Conseil de l'Europe, Strasbourg, 2004.
- Duhamel-Amado, Claudie; Guy, Lobrichon, *Georges Duby*. *L'écriture de l'Histoire*, (Bibliotheque Du Moyen Age, 6), De Boeck Université, Bruxelles, 1996.
- Durkheim, Émile, «Représentations individuelles et Représentations collectives», *Revue de Métaphysique et de Morale, tome VI*, numéro de mai 1898, ediție electronică realizată de către Jean-Marie Tremblay, accesibilă on-line la http://classiques.uqac.ca/classiques/Durkheim_emile/Socio_et_philo/ch_1_representations/representations.pdf. (23.04, 2010)
- Duţu, Alexandru, *Dimensiunea umană a istoriei*, Editura Meridiane, Bucureşti, 1986.
- Evseev, Ivan, *Dicționar de simboluri și arhetipuri culturale*, Editura "AMACORD", Timisoara, 1994.
- Fowkes, Ben, *The post-communist era. Change and Continuity* in Eastern Europe, Palgrave Macmillan, Unites States, 1999.
- Gavreliuc, Alin, De la relațiile interpersonale la comunicarea socială: psihologia socială și stadiile progressive ale articulării sinelui, Polirom, Iasi, 2006.
- Gavriluță, Nicu, *Imaginarul social al tranziției românești:* simboluri, fantasme, reprezentări, Ed. Dacia, Cluj-Napoca, 2001.
- Gavriluță, Nicu, *Antropologii socială și culturală*, Polirom, Iași, 2009.
- Ghețău, Vasile, "Declinul demografic al României: ce

- perspective?", în *Sociologie Românească*, Volumul II, Nr. 2, 2004, pp. 4-41.
- Gil, Eyal; Szelényi, I.âIvan; Townsley, Eleanor, "*Capitalism fără capitalişti. Noua elită conducătoare din Europa de Est*", ediție în limba română, Sava, I. N., Editura Omega, București, 2001.
- Grabher, Gernot; Stark, David, "Organizing Diversity:
 Evolutionary Theory, Network Analysis and Postsocialism", *Regional Studies*, Vol. 31.5, 1997, pp. 533-544, http://www.informaworld.com.
- Grootaert, Christiaan; Van Bastelaer, Thierry (eds.),

 Understanding and Measuring Social Capital: A

 Multidisciplinary Tool for Practitioners", World Bank,

 World Bank Publications, Washington D.C., 2002.
- Hazell, Clive, *Alterity*. *The Experience of the other*, AuthorHouse, 2009.
- Hentschel, Dieter, "Le temps des managers: stéréotypes et réalités franco-allemands", în Hausbei, Kerstin; Lattard, Alain (eds.), *Identité(s) multiple(s)*, Presses Sorbonne Nouvelle, 2009, pp. 199-209.
- Holmes, Leslie, *Postcomunismul*, traducere de Lupașcu, Ramona, prefață de Dirdala, Ramona, Institutul European, Iași, 2004.
- Ionescu, Ion, *Sociologia dezvoltării comunitare*, Institutul European, Iași, 2004.
- Jodelet, D., « Formes et figures de l'alterité » în Sancez-Manzas, M.; Licata, L. (ed.), *L'autre : regards psychosociaux*, Presses Universitaires de Grenoble, Grenoble 2005, pp. 24-25, accesibil on-line la http://classiques.uqac.ca/contemporains/jodelet_denise/forme_figure_alterite.pdf (13. 09. 2010).
- Korgen, Kathleen Odell, Contemporary readings in sociology,

- Sage Publications Ltd., London, United Kingdom, 2008.
- Kornlblum, William, *Sociology in a Changing World. Ninth Edition*, Cengage Learning, Wadsworth, SUA, 2012.
- Kurcz, Ida, "Cognitive Dimension Of Identity: Ethnic Stereotypes in Poland", în Chilton, Paul; Ilyn, Jacob L.;
- Le Goff, Jacques, *Pentru un alt Ev Mediu*, Editura Meridiane, București, 1986
- Liégeois, Jean-Piere, Romii în Europa, Monitorul Oficial, 2008.
- Liiceanu, Aurora, "Alteritate etnică și imaginar colectiv",în Bădescu, G.; Kivu, M.; Robotin, M. (eds.), BAROMETRUL RELAȚIILOR ETNICE 1994-2002. 0 perspectivă asupra climatului interetnic din România, Fundația CRDE, Cluj-Napoca, 2005, pp.55-64.
- Luis, Jean-Philippe; Rodríguez, Antonio Niño, "Introduction Percevoir et Décider: Le Rôle Des Images Et des Stéréotypes Nationaux dans les Relations Hispano-Françaises", în *CAHIER DU CENTRE D'HISTOIRE* "ESPACE ET CULTURES", Nº 20: Représentations de l'autre et relations internationales, France-Espagne, xixe- XXe siècles, Presses Universitaires Blaise Pascal, 2005, pp. 3-13.
- Marushiakova, Elena; Popov, Vesselin, *Gypsies in the Ottoman Empire*: a contribution to the history of the Balkans, Centre de recherches tsiganes și University of Hertfordshire Press, J.W. Arrowsmith Ltd., Bristol, 2001, Marea Britanie
- Marushiakova, Elena; Popov, Vesselin, "Ethnosocial Structure of the Roma Of Bulgaria", în *Gypsies of Bulgaria: Problems of the Multicultural Museum Exhibition*, Patrin Web Journal: Romani Culture and History, http://www.reocities.com/~patrin/bulg-structre.htm (26.08.2012)

- Marushiova, Elena; Popov, Veselin, "Roma Muslim in the Balkans", Project Education Of Roma Children In Europe,

 http://romafacts.uni-graz.at/index.php/culture/introduction/roma-muslims-in-the-balkans. (22.06.2011).
- Matras, Yaron, *Romani. A lingvistic Introduction*, Cambridge University Press, 2004.
- Marger, Martin, *Race and Ethnic Relations: American and* Moscovici, Serge, "The history and actuality of social representation", in Flick, Uwe (ed.), *The Psychology of the Social*, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 1998, pp. 209-247.
- Moscovici, Serge, *La psychanalyse*, son image et son public, PUF, Paris, 1976.
- Muyhtar, Fatme, *The Human Rights of Muslim in Bulgaria in Law and Politics since 1878*, Sofia, 2003, http://issuu.com/bghelsinki/docs/2003_muslims_en-1-(22.06.2011).
- Nicoară, Simona; Nicoară, Toader, *Mentalități colective și imaginar social. Istoria și noile paradigme ale cunoașterii*, Presa Universitară Clujeană/Mesagerul,
 Cluj-Napoca, 1996.
- Nisbet, Robert, *The Sociological tradition*, Transaction Publishers, New Jersey, SUA, 1993.
- Oprişan, Ana; Grigore, George, "The Muslim Gypsies in Romania" in ISIM, *ISIM Newsletter 8*, ISIM, Leiden, 2001, p. 32.
- Pamporov, Alexey "Comment. Sold like a donkey? Bride-price among the Bulgarian Roma", *Journal of the Royal Anthropological Institute* (N.S.) 13, Royal Anthropological Institute 2007, pp. 471-476.
- Pavlínek, Petr, "Alternative Theoretical Approaches To Post-

- Communist Transformations In Central And Eastern Europe", *Politická ekonomie*, Nr. 5, 2002, pp. 1.24, http://www.vse.cz/polek. (18 decembrie 2008).
- Piasere, Leonardo, "Xoraxané Romá", în Levinson, David, Encyclopedia of World cultures (central, Western, and Southeastern Europe). Volume IV. Europe, G.K. Hall & Co., Boston, Massachusetts, 1992, pp. 281-283.
- Pop, Luana, Miruna (coord.), *Dicționar de Politici Sociale*, Editura Expert, București, 2002.
- Portes, Alejandro, "Migration and Social Change: Some Conceptual Reflections", keynote address to the conference on "Theorizing Key Migration Debates", Oxford University, July 1, 2008, acesibil on-line la http://www.imi.ox.ac.uk/pdfs/alejandro-portes-migration-and-social-change-some-conceptual-reflection (3.01.212)
- Rînciog, Diana, *Histoire et mentalités dans l'oeuvre de Gustave Flaubert: (étude sur la correspondance)*, Editura Universității din Ploiești, Ploiești, 2002.
- Rotariu, Traian, Demografia și sociologia populației: fenomene demografice, Polirom, Iasi, 2003.
- Ruscher, Janet B., *Prejudiced communication: a social* psychological perspective, The Guilford Press, Guilford Press, New York, 2001.
- Rusu, Horațiu, *Schimbarea socială și identitatea socioculturală*, Institutul European, Iași, 2008.
- Sandu, Dumitru, *Dezvoltarea comunitară și regională*, UB, SAS, 2010, draft pentru reeditarea volumului *Dezvoltarea comunitară. Cercetare, practica, ideologie, Iași: Polirom. DEVCOMREG*, București 2010, http://193.231.1.3/file.php/55/Studii_migratie-

- rofesor/Suport_de_curs/DECOMREG2010.pdf (4.10.2010).
- Sandu, Dumitru; Comşa, Mircea; Rughiniş, Cosima; Toth, Alexandru; Voicu, Mălina; Voicu, Bogdan, *Viața socială în România urbană*, Polirom, Iași, 2006.
- Sandu, Dumitru (coord.), *Locuirea temporară îin străinătate. Migrația economică a românilor: 1990-2006*, Fundația pentru o Societate Deschisă, București, 2006.
- Sandu, Dumitru, Spațiul social al tranziției, Polirom, Iași, 1996.
- Sandu, Dumitru, *Sociologia tranziției: Valori și tipuri sociale în România*, Editura Staff, București, 1996.
- Sarău, Gheorghe, *Dicționar rrom-român*, Editura Dacia, Cluj-Napoca, 2000.
- Schwartz, Barr, "ICONOGRAPHYA AND COLLECTIVE MEMORY: Lincoln's Image in the American Mind" in *The Sociological Quarterly*,Vol. 32, No. 3, Blackwell Publishing on behalf of the Midwest Sociological Society, 1991, pp. 3 01-319, accesibil on-line la http://www.jstor.org/stable/4120910 (14. 08. 2009).
- Smith, Anthony D., *The Ethnical Revival în the modern world* (*Themes in the social sciences*), Cambridge University Press, New York, SUA, 1981.
- Spéder, Zsolt, "Demographic Transition of Three Populations in Two Countries The Population of Romania and Hungary Compared", Hungarian Central Statistical Office, *Hungarian Statistical Review*, Volume 88, Special Number 14, Budapest, 2010, pp. 3-26.
- Stangor, Charles; MacRae, C. Neil; Hewstone, Miles, Stereotypes & Stereotyping, Guilford Press, 1996.
- Stănciulescu, Elisabeta, *Teorii sociologice ale educației*, Polirom, Iași, 1996.
- Sztompka, Piotr, "The Trauma of Social Change. A Case of

- Postcommunist Societies", Capitolul 5, în Alexander, Jeffrey C., Eyerman Ron, Giesen Bernard, Smelser Neil J., *Cultural Trauma and collective identity*, University of California Press, 2004, pp. 155-197.
- Sztompka, Piotr, *Trust: A Sociological Theory*, Cambridge University Press, 2000a.
- Sztompka, Piotr, "Cultural Trauma: The Other Face of Social Change", *European Journal of Social Theory, Nr. 4*, 2000c, pp. 449-466, http://www.sagepublications.com.
- Sztompka, Piotr, "Devenir social, néo-modernisation et importance de la culture: Quelques implications de la révolution anticommuniste pour la théorie du changement social », în *Sociologie et sociétés*, vol. 30, n° 1,1998, p.85-94, versiune online, http://id.erudit.org/iderudit/001781ar.
- Sztompka, Piotr, *The Sociolgy of the Social Change*, Wiley-Blackell, 1994.
- Tönnies, Ferdinand, *Community and Society* [Gemeinschaft und Gesellschaft, 1887], tradusă de Charles P. Loomis, Courier Dover Publications, United Kingdom, 2002.
- Turliuc, Maria Nicoleta, *Imaginar, identitate și reprezentări* sociale: imaginea elementului alogen în mentalul colectiv românesc, Ed. Universități "Al. I. Cuza" Iași, 2004.
- Voicu, Bogdan, Capital social în România începutului de Mileniu: Drumeț în calea celor fără prieteni?, Lumen, Iași, 2010.
- Voicu, Bogdan, Penuria Pseudo-Modernă a Postcomunimului românesc. Volumul I. Schimbarea socială și acțiunile indivizilor, Editura Projects, Iași, 2005.
- Weichlein, Siegfried, "Menthalities" în Harrington, Austin;

- Marshall, Barbara I.; Müller, Hans-Peter (eds.), *Encyclopedia of Social Theory*, Routledge, 2006.
- Yzerbyt, Vincent Y.; McGarty ,Craig; Spears, Russel, "Social, Cultural and cognitive factors in stereotype formation", în McGarty, Craig; Yzerbyt, Vincent Y.; Spears, Russel, Stereotype as Explanations. The formation of meaningful beliefs about soial groups, Cambridge University Press, 2002, pp. 1-15.
- Yzerbut, Vincent; Schadron, Georges, *Cunoașterea și judecarea celuilalt*, pref. Jacques-Philippe; trad. Denisa-Carmen Burducea, Polirom, Iași, 2002.
- Yzerbut, Vincent; Jacques-Philippe, Leyens, *Stéréotypes et Cognition sociale*, Mardaga, Liege, 1996.
- Zamfir, Cătălin, *O Analiză Critică A Tranziției. Ce va fi* "*după*", Editura Polirom, Iași, 2004.
- Zamfir, Cătălin (coord.), *Dicționar de sărăcie*, http://www.iccv.ro/oldiccv/romana/dictionar/dict_alfa.ht mc.20.08.2005).
- Zamfir, Elena; Zamfir, Cătălin (coord.), *Țiganii între ignorare și îngrijorare*, Editura Alternative, Bucuresti, 1993.